RECEIVED

Sep 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEMETRICK DOCTOR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000554

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress Appellant's statement to police where Appellant was in custodial interrogation, where he recognized his Miranda warnings by shaking his head "yes" and signing the acknowledgment form, yet where he refused to sign the waiver of his rights, repeatedly shook his head "no" when asked if he would talk with police, and after interrogators read the waiver of rights a aloud Appellant said, "I don't want to"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Demetrick Doctor was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury on October 14, 2020, for two counts of murder, and one count of attempted murder. R. 661-662, 665-666, 669-670. His case proceeded to trial from April 18th through 22nd, 2022, before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by John Tate and Megan Eigenbrot, while the State was represented by Daniel Goldberg and Amanda Gaston. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of all counts, and the trial court sentenced Appellant to concurrent sentences of life without parole for each charge.¹ R. 646, ll. 10-21; R. 395, ll. 13-17; R. 660, ll. 6-13; R. 663-664, 667-668, 671-672.

¹ On April 6, 2022, Appellant was served with the State's notice to seek life without parole based upon his prior record. R. 15, ln. 14—R. 16, ln. 1.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In light of the South Carolina Supreme Court's recent jurisprudence, Appellant respectfully requests this Court to analyze whether the statement at issue in this case was given that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda² as a mixed question of fact and law.

In State v. Brewer, 438 S.C. 37 n.1, 882 S.E.2d 156, 160 n.1 (2022), after acknowledging prior precedent regarding standard of review,³ the Supreme Court recognized other jurisdictions examining “the question of whether a statement was voluntary given as a mixed question of fact and law” employed “a standard that is nearly identical” to that adopted by our Court in State v. Frazier, 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022). However, the Brewer Court “left for another day” whether the Frazier standard of review governs such issues. Id.

In Frazier, the Court reformed the standard of appellate review of a motion to suppress based on violation of the Fourth Amendment to now involve a two-step analysis: the trial court's factual findings are reviewed for any evidentiary support, while the ultimate legal conclusion is a question of law subject to *de novo* review. Id. 437 S.C. at 633-34, 879 S.E.2d at 766 (2022). The rationale supporting such a change was due in part as follows:

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1964).

³ Previously, this Court has stated that “[o]n appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990); see also State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998). Put another way, the reviewing court will reverse a trial judge's ruling on the voluntariness of the confession when the ruling is “so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997).

“[W]ith the dawn of the technological age, appellate courts are no longer dependent on the trial court in our review of evidence. The most obvious example is the advent of body and dashcam footage, whereby this Court reviews the same video as the trial court. Accordingly, while the need for deference remains, particularly in determining issues of credibility, it is no longer necessary for us to defer to the trial court's overall ruling in every case.”

Id. 437 S.C. at 632, 879 S.E.2d at 766.

Similarly, appellate review of a motion to suppress based on violations of Fifth Amendment Miranda and Sixth Amendment protections is no longer dependent on the trial court in reviewing evidence due to the same advantages of our technological age. Specifically, body worn camera and interrogation room camera footage allows appellate courts to review “the same video as the trial court.” Id. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests this Court review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, and review de novo the legal conclusions reached by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Late at on the night of October 3, 2019, numerous residents and visitors were out at the end of a dirt road around 129 Ballenton Road in Richland County, South Carolina—an area called the D-R by those familiar with it. R. 138, ll. 21-22; R. 254, ll. 16-25; R. 256, ll. 1-11; R. 271, ll. 1-5; R. 287, ln. 24—R. 288, ln. 3. At the end of the D-R was an RV and several other vehicles; directly beyond that was a single-wide trailer, and a Mercedes car parked between the RV and trailer. At the left end of the trailer was light pole, and a wood line of trees; farther past the right end was a brick house; behind the trailer was a table, a large pile of empty beer cans, another shack, and a greenhouse-like structure with fabric on the side referred to as a “tent” with a rear SUV seat inside. R. 186, ln. 19—R. 187, ln. 17; R. 248, ln. 23—R. 249, ln. 23; R. 252, ll. 3-16; R. 273, ln. 1—R. 274, ln. 19. The D-R was an area known to have many people come and go to barbeque, hang out, and use drugs. R. 253, ln. 7—R. 254, ln. 13.

At the time, Nathan Telford (Telford), whose family owned the property, was out back playing cards. Unbeknownst to him, Justin “Julio” Glenn (Julio), Christine “Jules” Hayes (Jules), and another unknown male recently arrived in Julio’s SUV, and parked slightly to the right front of the trailer. Stacey Melton (Melton) was also out front with another friend, Christopher “Ferb” Doctor (Ferb) waiting for Jules and Julio to arrive. When they did, Melton went to Julio’s SUV to meet with Jules and buy drugs from Julio. R. 252, ll. 3-16; R. 254, ln. 16—R. 255, ln. 10; R. 286, ll. 10-25; R. 293, ln. 2—R. 299, ln. 7. Shortly after Melton left Julio’s SUV and walked back over to Ferb, a white Ford Crown Victoria sped down the D-R. Ferb told Melton to take cover. R. 299, ln. 10—R. 301, ln. 23. She ran towards the back of the trailer heard a boom, followed by a car horn incessantly blowing. Melton then turned back and walked up the side of the trailer, and saw three flashes; realizing they were gunshots, she ran

behind the trailer again. The scene was chaotic with people running everywhere, including Telford's cousin, John Dickerson (Dickerson). R. 261, ll. 6-18; R. 277, ll. 1-12; R. 302, ln. 3—R. 303, ln. 18; R. 319, ll. 12-18. Melton saw Appellant running behind the trailer with two firearms: a pistol, and a sawed-off shotgun. She put her head down and did not see Appellant again that night; however, Melton heard another gunshot shortly after. R. 303, ln. 21—R. 304, ln. 24; R. 306, ll. 4-15; R. 320, ll. 10-25; R. 322, ll. 16-23.

Telford likewise heard gunshots while playing cards behind the trailer, and took cover in the tent next to the seat. R. 258, ln. 3—R. 259, ln. 13; R. 275, ln. 17—R. 276, ln. 25. Telford also saw Appellant come behind the trailer with two guns in his hands and another in his waistband, and spoke with him; Appellant purportedly said, "I'm looking for the ones who say their gonna kill me on sight, shoot me on sight," and that "they threatened me all week long." R. 259, ln. 16—R. 260, ll. 25; R. 262, ll. 9-19. Appellant left around the past of the cans toward the front of the trailer. Telford also saw Dickerson run by him toward the can pile; shortly after, he heard more gunfire. R. 262, Ln. 20—R. 264, ln. 6. Telford ran to his mother's brick house next door, and as cars left he called 911. R. 264, ll. 7-24.

When police arrived, they discovered Jules laying face down on the ground out front with wounds to her head and neck from buckshot likely fired out of 12-gauge shotgun from at least nine feet away. They also found Julio's body in the doorway of his SUV; he was shot through the left side of his head by the ear from between two to four feet away with birdshot fired from a shotgun. Finally, Dickerson was found laying in the can pile with a gunshot wound in his face; although permanently blinded, he survived the incident. R. 140, ln. 6—R. 141, ln. 6; R. 173, ln. 1—R. 174, ln. 23; R. 196, ln. 5—R. 200, ln. 4; R. 205, ll. 9-18; R. 207, ll. 1-9; R. 474, ln. 23—R. 475, ln. 14; R. 480, ln. 21—R. 481, ln. 18; R. 484, ln. 19—R. 485, ln. 25. After talking with

Melton and Telford, police developed Demetrick “Meke” Doctor (Appellant) as a person of interest. R. 266, ln. 2—R. 269, ln. 3; R. 307, ln. 13—R. 308, ln. 13; R. 358, ln. 19—R. 359, ln. 10; R. 544, ll. 16-25.

On October 5, 2019, Appellant was held in a small interrogation room at the Richland County Sheriff’s Office (RCSO) Headquarters. He was interrogated by Investigator Kevin Bland (Inv. Bland) and Sergeant Dauway (Sgt. Dauway). R. 87, ln. 14—R. 88, ln. 10. Police acknowledged he was in their custody and not free to leave. R. 88, ll. 15-19. Appellant’s interrogation was also video recorded. R. 91, ln. 19—R. 92, ln. 17; Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2.

At the outset, Inv. Bland advised Appellant of his rights pursuant to Miranda. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:12:13.⁴ Appellant shook his head “yes” when asked if he understood his rights, and likewise signed the Interrogation Advisement of Rights form. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:12:50—20:13:04. Inv. Bland then asked Appellant if he was willing to answer any questions they had for him that night; Appellant shook his head “no,” and turned the wrist of his right hand. Inv. Bland responded by saying he had to have a verbal yes or no. Appellant then responded by saying, “nah, probably not.” Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:13:08—20:13:17. Sgt. Dauway asked, “probably no?” while Inv. Bland said, “you don’t wanna, you don’t wanna.” Appellant again shook his head “no,” and turned his wrist. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:13:19—20:13:21. On Camera 2, a person can be heard indicating they need to hear statements, and Appellant responded that police were looking for him. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:13:23—20:13:26. Sgt. Dauway then asked Appellant to listen to what they wanted him to sign, and then they would tell Appellant why he was there. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:13:26—20:13:32. After Inv. Bland read aloud the waiver portion of the

⁴ No transcript of Appellant’s interrogation was submitted to the trial court.

Interrogation Advisement of Rights form, he asked Appellant if he understood it and Sgt. Dauway asked if Appellant knew what pressure or coercion was. Appellant shook his head “yes,” in acknowledgment. When Inv. Bland pushed the waiver form back toward Appellant again for him to sign, Appellant again shook his head “no” and said, “but I ain’t gonna sign it though ‘cause you had just now said uh Agree to answer questions, and I don’t want to.” While saying this, Appellant again was shaking his head “no” and turned both wrists. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:13:37—20:14:12. Sgt. Dauway continued the interrogation of Appellant, and immediately asked if Appellant wanted to know why he was there. Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:14:12—20:14:13.

The interrogation continued after Appellant apparently vacillated upon further questioning. While he refused to discuss his whereabouts on October 3, 2019, he did relay to police the events of October 2, 2019, that transpired at the D-R between Appellant and Julio. Appellant went to the D-R to talk with Julio about selling drugs in front of his relative’s home. Julio cursed Appellant and reached for an AR-style rifle. Appellant was able to disarm Julio, disable the weapon, and told Julio that he would leave it at the end of the D-R when he left. R. 94, ln. 15—R. 96, ln. 6; R. 555, ln. 8—R. 556, ln. 18; Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:14:13—21:09:13; 21:46:04—22:12:45.

Appellant’s case proceeded to trial, and at his pre-trial hearing the defense moved to suppress admission of his statement to police due to violation of Appellant’s Miranda rights. R. 86, ll. 8-12. During the hearing, Inv. Bland confirmed both that Appellant was indeed in police custody, and that consistent with his training, the majority of communication is non-verbal body language. R. 88, ll. 15-19; R. 101, ll. 14-25. Counsel for Appellant (Counsel) recognized Appellant was read his Miranda warnings by law enforcement and signed the advisement of

rights form acknowledging them. R. 112, ll. 4-7. However, he argued that Appellant asserted his right to remain silent when he shook his head “no” in response to whether he wanted to talk with police, and he declined to sign the waiver. R. 112, ll. 13. As such, Counsel asserted Appellant’s conduct was a clear invocation of Appellant’s Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, and all questioning should have immediately stopped. Instead, law enforcement continued talking with Appellant. R. 112, ll. 20-25; R. 113, ll. 7-24; R. 114, ll. 9-11; R. 114, ll. 17-25; R. 122, ll. 14-22; R. 123, ll. 2-6.

The State agreed with Counsel that Appellant was in a custodial interrogation scenario triggering Miranda, and that the issue before the court was *inter alia*, whether Appellant invoked his right to remain silent. R. 115, ll. 3-7. However, the State argued that, under the totality of the circumstances, Appellant did not unambiguously invoke his Miranda rights based upon his twisting of his hands when refusing to sign the waiver shaking his head “no,” “and then immediately after says probably not. He says, probably not.” R. 120, ln. 24—R. 122, ln. 12. The State further pointed to Appellant’s vacillating answers afterward with police throughout the interrogation “in light of the continuing questions that were asked of him to try to clear up this situation.” R. 121, ll. 7-20.

The trial court examined the interrogation video, and determined Appellant’s invocation of his right to remain silent was ambiguous because, when he refused to sign the waiver and shook his head “no,” he also moved his hands by twisting his wrists. The further took into consideration Appellant’s vacillating communication with police after his refusal to sign the waiver of Miranda rights form and shaking his head “no.” R. 124, ln. 3—R. 125, ln. 15. As such, the trial court allowed the State to admit testimony, as well as limited portions of the video,

into evidence before the jury. R. 125, ll. 8-15; R. 547, ln. 20—R. 559, ln. 1; St. Ex. #89, Redacted Interrogation.

During trial, the information provided through Appellant's interrogation was provided not only through the testimony of Inv. Bland, but also through portions of the interrogation video. R. 547, ln. 20—R. 559, ln. 1; State's Ex. #89. Further, Melton partially corroborated Appellant's statement when she testified that on October 2, 2019, she rode to the D-R with Jules and Julio. She stayed in the SUV with Jules when Julio got out, and when Julio returned, he was upset. R. 290, ll. 21-24. Finally, the State repeatedly referred to Appellant's statement throughout its closing argument to the jury. R. 588, ll. 14-18; R. 593, ln. 15—R. 594, ln. 12; R. 597, ll. 5-10; R. 600, ll. 13-22; R. 604, ln. 1—R. 605, ln. 5; R. 611, ln. 22—R. 615, ln. 12. The jury found Appellant guilty on all three counts; he was sentenced to concurrent sentences of life without possibility of parole. R. 646, ll. 10-21; R. 395, ll. 13-17; R. 660, ll. 6-13; R. 663-664, 667-668, 671-672.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress Appellant's statement to police where Appellant was in custodial interrogation, where he recognized his Miranda warnings by shaking his head "yes" and signing the acknowledgment form, yet where he refused to sign the waiver of his rights, repeatedly shook his head "no" when asked if he would talk with police, and after interrogators read the waiver of rights a aloud Appellant said, "I don't want to."

Appellant unambiguously invoked his right to remain silent when, after being mirandized by police while in their custody, refused to sign the waiver of his rights, shook his head "no," and turned his hand up when asked by Inv. Bland if Appellant was willing to answer any questions they had for him that night. Even after police asked further questions to clarify whether Appellant would speak with them and read aloud the waiver of rights, Appellant again shook his head "no" and said, "but I ain't gonna sign it though 'cause you had just now said uh Agree to answer questions, and I don't want to." Under the totality of the circumstances, Appellant's conduct and words leading up to and including the refusal to waive his right to remain silent amount to an unambiguous assertion of his right to remain silent. Rather than scrupulously honoring Appellant's right to cut-off interrogation and immediately cease all questioning in the face of Appellant's invocation, police instead immediately asked further questions of Appellant. Accordingly, the trial court erred by refusing to suppress Appellant's statement to police.

"[T]he Miranda safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent." Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300-01, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 1689, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980); State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 488, 374 S.E.2d 284, 288 (1988). "In order to introduce into evidence a confession arising from custodial interrogation, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct.

1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1964).” State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 512, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010). “A waiver of Miranda rights is determined from the totality of the circumstances.” State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998) (citing State v. Moultrie, 273 S.C. 60, 254 S.E.2d 294 (1979)). “Statements elicited during interrogation are admissible if the prosecution can establish that the suspect ‘knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to retained or appointed counsel.” Id. “Any waiver, express or implied, may be contradicted by an invocation at any time. If the right to counsel or the right to remain silent is invoked at any point during questioning. Further interrogation must cease.” Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 S.C. 370, 387-88, 130 S.Ct. 2250, 2263-63, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098 (2010).

Further, questioning by police must stop immediately once a defendant asserts his rights. As the United States Supreme Court explained in Michigan v. Mosley:

Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates *in any manner*, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease. At this point he has shown that he intends to exercise his Fifth Amendment privilege; any statement taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise. Without the right to cut off questioning, the setting of in-custody interrogation operates on the individual to overcome free choice in producing a statement after the privilege has been once invoked.

Id. 423 U.S. 96, 100–01, 96 S.Ct. 321, 325, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975) (emphasis added) (citing Miranda, 384 U.S., at 473-474, 86 S.Ct., at 1627). Accordingly, “the admissibility of statements obtained after the person in custody has decided to remain silent depends under Miranda on whether his ‘right to cut off questioning’ was ‘scrupulously honored.’” Id. 423 U.S. at 103–04, 96 S. Ct. at 326, 46 L. Ed.2d 313 (1975).

If nothing about a defendant’s invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights is unambiguous, leading up to and including the invocation itself, then the interrogation must end. See Smith v.

Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 98, 105 S.Ct. 490, 494, 83 L.Ed.2d 488 (1984) (“Where nothing about the request for counsel or the circumstances leading up to the request would render it ambiguous, all questioning must cease.”). Under such circumstances, “an accused’s subsequent statements are relevant only to the question whether the accused waived the right he had invoked. Invocation and waiver are entirely distinct inquiries, and the two must not be blurred by merging them together.” Id.

When determining whether a defendant's right to cut-off questioning was “scrupulously honored,” courts often analyze the following five non- exclusive factors:

- (1) whether the suspect was given *Miranda* warnings at the first interrogation;
- (2) whether police immediately ceased the interrogation when the suspect indicated he did not want to answer questions;
- (3) whether police resumed questioning the suspect only after the passage of a significant period of time;
- (4) whether police provided a fresh set of *Miranda* warnings before the second interrogation; and
- (5) whether the second interrogation was restricted to a crime that had not been a subject of the earlier interrogation.

State v. Benjamin, 345 S.C. 470, 476-77, 549 S.E.2d 258, 261 (2001) (citations omitted).

In the case at bar, Appellant unambiguously refused to waive his right to remain silent and invoked his right to the same after being advised of his Miranda rights by police. First and foremost, Appellant was in police custody when held by police inside the confined interrogation room with two investigators at the RCSO Headquarters. R. 88, ll. 15-19. In preparation for questioning Appellant while in their custody, Inv. Bland read Appellant his Miranda rights, which Appellant acknowledged he understood by both signing the acknowledgment form and shaking his head “yes.” Ct. Ex. #3—cameras 1 and 2 @ 20:12:50—20:13:04. However, when asked by Inv.

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