RECEIVED

Sep 08 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DEMETRICK DOCTOR,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000554

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

The Honorable Byron E. Gipson
Solicitor, 5th Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The proper standard of review is one of abuse of discretion.

Appellant has requested that this Court implement a new standard of review so as to treat this issue as a mixed question of law and fact and apply *de novo* review to the "the ultimate legal conclusion". (See Brief of Appellant, p. 3-4). Appellant attempts to liken this case to our Supreme Court's recent 4th Amendment search and seizure analysis, and whether that analysis should be mirrored in considering the voluntariness of statements. See *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 633, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022), reh'g denied (Nov. 17, 2022); See *State v. Brewer*, 438 S.C. 37, 44,

882 S.E.2d 156, 160 n.1 (2022), cert. denied (June 20, 2023), cert. denied, No. 22-885, 2023 WL 4065710 (U.S.S.C. June 20, 2023). However, *Brewer* left the issue unaddressed and there does not exist any precedent directing this Court to undertake a new standard of review in this type of matter. On appeal, the trial judge's ruling as to the voluntariness of the confession will not be disturbed unless so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004).

However, such a shift in the standard of review, if applied in this case, would ultimately be without practical substance. The *only disputed issue* before the court was the factual consideration of whether Appellant's various responses were equivocal or unequivocal as to his unwillingness to answer questions; in determining that fact courts are instructed to consider all of the facts and circumstances thereto. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 30, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 (2000) ("Before law enforcement officers are required to discontinue questioning, the suspect must clearly articulate his desire to end the interrogation."); *Id.* ("[T]he conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion."). Interpreting the meaning behind communications is a factual matter, and legal questions such as whether custodial interrogation took place or whether *Miranda* warnings were sufficient, are not in dispute. Compare *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 564, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013) (The meaning of the defendant's statement was a factual matter for the jury in determining whether it constituted a confession); Compare *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 323, 656 S.E.2d 382, 390 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The resolution of conflicting meanings is reserved for the jury.").

As such, the narrow issue in dispute is: is there any evidence supporting the trial court's finding of fact that Appellant did not give a clear invocation of his right to remain silent? The

standard of review for addressing that issue is one of abuse of discretion for lack of any evidence within the record to support the trial court's findings. Respondent's arguments thereto, demonstrate that the findings of the trial court were well supported by the evidence and circumstances presented.

II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress because Appellant did not provide an unequivocal assertion of his right to remain silent, or similarly, unequivocally demand that the interviewing officers cease asking questions.

Appellant began his interview with an equivocal response to Investigator Bland's simple and direct question of whether he was willing to answer any questions from law enforcement after being arrested and brought to the police station on October 5, 2019. Upon multiple efforts to gain clarity on Appellant's response, Appellant compounded his ambiguities and at times expressly encouraged police officers to continue speaking with him as to why he had been arrested. The trial court reviewed the testimony of Investigator Bland offered during the motion hearing, watched the entirety of Appellant's interview, heard the arguments of counsel, and ultimately found that under the totality of the circumstances Appellant's responses and hand-gestures were not an unambiguous assertion of his right to remain silent that would have compelled law enforcement officers to cease questioning. Moreover, even if the court's findings of fact as to the ambiguity of Appellant's responses could be deemed an abuse of discretion, it would constitute harmless error⁵ given the existence of two separate witnesses who saw Petitioner armed with multiple firearms matching the nature of the murder weapons, and shared communications with Appellant that reflected his mood, intent, and ability to assure the safety of one those witnesses. For these reasons, as discussed below, Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

⁵ Harmless error applies, even in the context of constitutional rights. (See Footnote 9, *Infra*).

The controlling authority for the precise issue on appeal emanates from the Supreme Court's decision in *Michigan v. Mosley*. Therein the Court found that:

[a] reasonable and faithful interpretation of the *Miranda* opinion must rest on the intention of the Court in that case to adopt "fully effective means ... to notify the person of his right of silence and to assure that the exercise of the right will be scrupulously honored...." 384 U.S., at 479, 86 S.Ct., at 1630. The critical safeguard identified in the passage at issue is a person's "right to cut off questioning." *Id.*, at 474, 86 S.Ct., at 1627. Through the exercise of his option to terminate questioning he can control the time at which questioning occurs, the subjects discussed, and the duration of the interrogation. The requirement that law enforcement authorities must respect a person's exercise of that option counteracts the coercive pressures of the custodial setting. We therefore conclude that the admissibility of statements obtained after the person in custody has decided to remain silent depends under *Miranda* on whether his "right to cut off questioning" was "scrupulously honored".

423 U.S. at 102–104, 96 S.Ct. 321 (quoting *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 478, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 1630, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)). *Mosley* created a set of five factors that are used to address a myriad of issues that might arise concerning *Miranda* and a defendant's right to remain silent. However, the issue here is limited strictly to the question of whether the right to remain silent was ever actually unambiguously invoked. To that issue, "[b]efore law enforcement officers are required to discontinue questioning, the suspect must clearly articulate his desire to end the interrogation." *Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 31, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 (2000) (citing *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994)). Stated another way, "[l]aw enforcement officers are not required to terminate an interrogation unless there is an unambiguous invocation of the right to remain silent." *State v. Reed*, 332 S.C. 35, 42, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998). Here, Appellant did not provide such an unambiguous invocation of his rights, and that fact is proven at numerous instances throughout the beginning of his interview.

After being read his *Miranda* rights by Investigator Bland, Appellant began an

exceptionally long obfuscation of his desire and intent to answer questions by police. The first, comes at the very outset of the interview, wherein Investigator Bland explicitly asks if Appellant is willing to answer questions. Appellant's response is a *minimal* and uncertain shake of the head accompanied by a raising of his hands palms up, which is generally and genuinely interpreted to convey uncertainty.⁶ (See Court's Exhibit 3, Camera 1, at 20:13:12). The officers were understandably left without an understanding of what Appellant meant from this reaction, and Investigator Bland sought to have Appellant clarify by asking: "Gotta get a verbal Yes, No?" Despite being explicitly presented with this *binary* choice from Investigator Bland, Appellant again obfuscated by saying: "probably not." (Camera 2, at 20:13:17). The ambiguous response was repeated as a question by Sargent Dauway immediately after, and Appellant again responded with a headshake and hand-gesture similar to his initial answer to Investigator Bland; he then adds "[unintelligible]⁷. . . , said yall looking for me." He then lowered his head and turned his palms facing outward, instead of upward. The meaning of his gestures could be interpreted to convey: 1) general uncertainty, 2) uncertainty as to why they were looking for him, 3) a defensive posture of surrender, or 4) a defensive posture similar to claiming innocence. Again, the ambiguity is prevalent. (Camera 1 & 2, 20:13:18 through 20:13:31).

Appellant's responses thus far in the interview are enough to demonstrate the persistent ambiguity and lack of explicit assertion of his rights that would defeat his arguments on appeal. However, more would come.

Moments later Appellant is read the contents of the waiver form and is presented with an opportunity to sign it. (Camera 1, 20:13:35 through 20:14:04). Appellant says: "I ain't gonna sign

⁶ While Court's Exhibit 3, Camera 1, provides better video recording of all of Appellant's hand gestures, Camera 2 provides clearer and louder audio.

⁷ The initial words sound like "the end of the day".

it, cause you just now said uh ‘I agree to answer questions, and I don’t know.’” (Camera 2, 20:14:04 through 20:14:12)(emphasis added). Appellant has misheard the recording, and contrary to Appellant’s repeated arguments, *he does not say “I don’t want to.”* (emphasis added). In support of Respondent’s description of the recorded audio, at the moment he says “I don’t know” Appellant again turns his hand up in the questioning/uncertainty manner, similar to his previous gestures. (Camera 1, 20:14:10 through 20:14:12). Moreover, immediately after saying “I don’t know” Appellant stated that he was willing to have the officers continue speaking and listen to comments, “but I *probably don’t know if I can answer questions.*” This response encapsulates 1) an invitation for police to continue speaking with him, 2) a reference to his *inability* to respond to questions (as opposed to an explicit *unwillingness*), and 3) a verbal and nonverbal equivocation on that inability, to boot. (Cameras 1 & 2, 20:14:14 through 20:14:22). Appellant’s obfuscations would only continue from there.⁸

Frankly, an argument of this nature is almost self-serving as to its own conclusion. When the parties are left with no alternative but to engage in an argument over the interpretation of Appellant’s hand gestures, the degree or manner in which he shook his head, and the meaning behind his verbal statements, the question of “was Appellant clear in invoking his right?” has already been answered in the negative. Nevertheless, a thorough review of the circumstances and Appellant’s various verbal and nonverbal gestures demonstrates that Appellant at no time gave an unequivocal invocation of his right to remain silent, or an equivalent demand for questioning to end. In fact, portions of his responses encouraged the officers to continue talking to him and merely expressed concern that he would not be able to answer their questions.

⁸ The trial court articulated that Appellant appeared to be equivocating to his own benefit. Such constitutes essentially a credibility finding, further solidifying the factual nature of the issue.

The law does not require police to “scrupulously honor” any vague or ambiguous hesitations of a defendant to speak as being tantamount to an invocation of the right to remain silent. What must be scrupulously honored is the right to remain silent *once asserted*. The Supreme Court has given further explanation to this distinction in its decision in *Berghuis v. Thompkins* by stating:

There is good reason to require an accused who wants to invoke his or her right to remain silent to do so unambiguously. A requirement of an unambiguous invocation of *Miranda* rights results in an objective inquiry that “avoid[s] difficulties of proof and ... provide[s] guidance to officers” on how to proceed in the face of ambiguity. *Davis*, 512 U.S., at 458–459, 114 S.Ct. 2350. If an ambiguous act, omission, or statement could require police to end the interrogation, police would be required to make difficult decisions about an accused's unclear intent and face the consequence of suppression “if they guess wrong.” *Id.*, at 461, 114 S.Ct. 2350. Suppression of a voluntary confession in these circumstances would place a significant burden on society's interest in prosecuting criminal activity.

560 U.S. 370, 381–82, 130 S. Ct. 2250, 2260, 176 L. Ed. 2d 1098 (2010). The case at hand presents the quintessential concern the Supreme Court envisioned if unambiguous invocation was not to be required: an officer would have to guess, and choose between doing his duty and being unnecessarily deferential to unasserted constitutional rights. Notwithstanding all of the aforementioned ambiguous communications from Appellant, and the other ambiguous communications that would follow, there can be no clearer demonstration of the officer's desire to scrupulously honor Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights than when Sargent Dauway loudly informs Appellant that he is being read his *Miranda* warnings because it is his constitutional right, and that he is trying to determine whether Appellant is willing to have a conversation with them about the details of his charges and the events thereto. (Camera 1 & 2, 20:17:16 through 20:18:39). At which time, Appellant *still* did not invoke his rights.

The trial court's conclusion was correct. Under the totality of the circumstances Appellant's verbal and nonverbal communications did not constitute an unequivocal assertion of his right to remain silent and the officers were under no obligation to end the interview. There are numerous facts that support this conclusion, including the hand gestures that the trial court explicitly mentioned as important to her findings.⁹ The trial court is entitled to deference for its factual conclusion that Appellant's communications were not clear. There is no abuse of discretion and Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.